COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

BARRY ALLEN TURNAGE,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S182598

OCT 13 ZUW

Third Appellate District, Case No. C059887 Yolo County Superior Court, Case No. 065019 The Honorable Thomas Edward Warriner, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES

This case concerns appellant's claim that his punishment as a felon for planting a facsimile "bomb" (Pen. Code, § 148.1, subd. (d)) violates equal protection because the similar offense of planting a facsimile weapon of mass destruction under the same circumstances is punishable only as a misdemeanor (Pen. Code, § 11418.1). As framed by this Court upon the grant of review, the issues are:

- 1. Does Penal Code section 148.1, subdivision (d), violate equal protection principles because a violation is punishable as an alternative felony-misdemeanor without a finding that a person was placed in sustained fear? (See Pen. Code, § 11418.1.)
 - 2. If so, what is the proper remedy?

INTRODUCTION

In the early 1970s, recognizing a rapidly growing threat from bombs in California, the Legislature punished the placement of even false bombs. Because bombs were so prevalent, a disruptive reaction—e.g., panic, confusion, evacuation, etc.—immediately followed a victim's virtually guaranteed perception of an easily-manufactured false bomb. The Legislature found the availability of felony punishment to be appropriate when a false bomb was placed with an intent to make another person think it was real or, under a 1992 amendment to the law, when the bomb was placed with an intent to cause fear. Since the placement of a false bomb with malicious intent was recognized as virtually certain to cause a disruptive reaction, the Legislature required only proof of placement with malicious intent for the availability of felony punishment for perpetrators like appellant.

More recently, the Legislature became concerned with a new but less understood threat—the threat posed by weapons of mass destruction

(WMDs). Because the public had less experience and exposure to the many and various types of WMDs, the Legislature chose to approach the threat in light of those differences. But, while some *real* WMDs have the ability to cause more destruction than *real* bombs, WMDs come in diverse forms that might not be readily recognizable. Because potential victims therefore may be less likely to perceive the false object as something dangerous, they conceivably may be less likely to have a serious reaction to seeing a *false* WMD than to seeing a *false* bomb. Recognizing the difference between a sighting of a bomb and a sighting of a WMD, the Legislature apparently was not satisfied that malicious intent would almost invariably lead to actual disruptive reaction. Therefore, it reasonably chose to take an initially more cautious approach: making felony punishment available only when such a disruptive reaction — a reaction the Legislature labeled "sustained fear" and specifically defined in Penal Code section 11418.5, subdivision (b) — is proven. ¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, appellant placed a false bomb near a government building (a dispatch center). (I RT 33-54, 92, 95-96, 108, 110.) The false bomb was a small box with "C-4" written on the front and an American flag sticking out of the top. (I RT 40, 52.) The dispatcher who saw the false bomb believed the object could be a bomb, "was scared," and summoned the bomb squad. (IRT 41-43, 54-58, 201-212, 216-218.) In addition, the dispatch center was evacuated. (IRT 43.)

¹ Because the phrase "sustained fear" is a term of art that might be confused with the ordinary term "fear" (see Pen. Code, § 148.1, subd. (d)), respondent in this brief generally refers to "disruptive reaction" instead of "sustained fear."

The Yolo County District Attorney charged appellant with placing a false bomb (Pen. Code, § 148.1, subd. (d))² and alleged that appellant had suffered two prior "strike" convictions. (I CT 104-105.) The jury found appellant guilty of placing the false bomb and found the prior-conviction allegations to be true. (I CT 206, 241, 242.) Imposing felony punishment for the section 148.1(d) offense, the court sentenced appellant to a total prison term of 30 years to life. (II CT 330-331.)

Appellant appealed. He argued, and in a partially published opinion the Court of Appeal agreed, that his felony punishment under the false bomb statute violated equal protection. In appellant's view, the statute was unconstitutional because it made felony punishment available for placing a false bomb without proof a disruptive reaction resulted whereas felony punishment would be available for placing false WMDs only upon proof that "sustained fear" had resulted.

The Court of Appeal declined to remand to allow the People to prove "sustained fear" as a condition of retaining felony punishment even though the Legislature had authorized such punishment for conviction of the false bomb offense of which appellant had already been convicted. Instead, rejecting a rehearing petition from the People on that precise point, the Court of Appeal barred felony punishment for appellant and reduced appellant's offense to a misdemeanor.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A distinction between criminal statutes does not violate equal protection when there is both a legitimate governmental purpose and a reasonably conceivable state of facts providing a rational relationship for differing treatment. Here, respondent suffered no violation of his right to

² All further undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code. Section 148.1, subdivision (d), will be cited as section 148.1(d).

equal protection of the laws, for there is a rational basis for allowing felony punishment for a violation of section 148.1(d), placement of a false bomb, without regard to whether he caused a disruptive reaction, even though felony punishment is allowed for a violation of section 11418.1, placement of a false WMD, only when "sustained fear" is proven.

It is at least conceivable that placement of a false bomb is more likely to result in a disruptive reaction than is placement of a false WMD because individuals are generally more familiar with bombs than with WMDs and are therefore more likely to perceive a false bomb to be a dangerous object than to perceive a false WMD to be dangerous at all. In light of the great deference to be paid to the Legislature in enacting laws and in distinguishing between the proof required for different offenses, the equal protection clause does not prohibit the Legislature from prescribing wobbler punishment for appellant's offense without regard to any disruptive reaction, even though it requires proof of "sustained fear" for the different wobbler offense of placing a false WMD.

Even if it would be unconstitutional to punish appellant without proof of the "sustained fear" required to be shown in WMD statute, the remedy should not be to shield appellant from felony punishment altogether. The evident intent of the Legislature was to ensure the availability of felony punishment for those whose placement of a false bomb (or false WMD) resulted in "sustained fear." The proper remedy in this case would be to allow the prosecutor the opportunity to prove that appellant's placement of a false bomb resulted in that disruptive action, i.e., "sustained fear," so that felony punishment – with the accompanying impact of the Three Strikes law – remains available for conduct such as appellant's.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE LEGISLATURE RATIONALLY MAY HAVE
CONCLUDED THAT PLACING A FALSE BOMB IS MORE
CERTAIN TO CAUSE A DISRUPTIVE REACTION, EQUAL
PROTECTION PRINCIPLES DID NOT REQUIRE IT TO
CONDITION FELONY PUNISHMENT ON THE SAME
"SUSTAINED FEAR" ELEMENT NECESSARY TO PROVE THE
FELONY VIOLATION OF PLACING A FALSE WMD

A person who places a false bomb, with intent to cause fear, is guilty of a crime punishable alternatively as a felony or misdemeanor, without the need for the prosecution to affirmatively prove that a disruptive reaction resulted from the placement. (§ 148.1(d).) In contrast, a person who places a false WMD, with the intent to cause fear, is guilty of a crime punishable only as a misdemeanor in the absence of proof of "sustained fear" and punishable as a felony only upon affirmative proof of "sustained fear." (§ 11418.1) The Legislature had a rational basis to distinguish between placing a false bomb and placing a false WMD in this way: placement is more certain to lead to a disruptive reaction in the false bomb context than in the WMD context. A false bomb is more readily perceived as a dangerous object while a false WMD more likely may not be perceived as intended to be a dangerous object at all. The statutes' differing proof requirements for felony punishment, therefore, are constitutional under the equal protection clause. Appellant has not "clearly, positively, and unmistakably" proven – with all "presumptions and intendments" in favor of rejecting his challenge³ – that there is no conceivable basis for requiring differing proofs to reach the same punishment.

The United States Supreme Court has described the rational basis standard for review of equal protection claims in strong terms which bar

³ People v. Falsetta (1999) 21 Cal.4th 903, 912-913.

judges from engaging in probing examination of acts within the province of the legislative branch of government:

We many times have said, and but weeks ago repeated, that rational-basis review in equal protection analysis "is not a license for courts to judge the wisdom, fairness, or logic of legislative choices." Nor does it authorize "the judiciary [to] sit as a superlegislature to judge the wisdom or desirability of legislative policy determinations made in areas that neither affect fundamental rights nor proceed along suspect lines." For these reasons, a classification neither involving fundamental rights nor proceeding along suspect lines is accorded a strong presumption of validity. Such a classification cannot run afoul of the Equal Protection Clause if there is a rational relationship between the disparity of treatment and some legitimate governmental purpose. Further, a legislature that creates these categories need not "actually articulate at any time the purpose or rationale supporting its classification." Instead, a classification "must be upheld against equal protection challenge if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification."

A State, moreover, has no obligation to produce evidence to sustain the rationality of a statutory classification. "[A] legislative choice is not subject to courtroom factfinding and may be based on rational speculation unsupported by evidence or empirical data." A statute is presumed constitutional, and "[t]he burden is on the one attacking the legislative arrangement to negative every conceivable basis which might support it," whether or not the basis has a foundation in the record. Finally, courts are compelled under rational-basis review to accept a legislature's generalizations even when there is an *imperfect* fit between means and ends. A classification does not fail rationalbasis review because it "is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality." "The problems of government are practical ones and may justify, if they do not require, rough accommodations - illogical, it may be, and unscientific."

(Heller v. Doe (1993) 509 U.S. 312, 319-321, internal citations omitted, italics added.)

That standard governs appellant's challenge in this case. For, as this Court has explained: "Generally, when we interpret a provision of the California Constitution that is similar to a provision of the federal Constitution, we will not depart from the United States Supreme Court's construction of the similar federal provision unless we are given cogent reasons to do so." (Edelstein v. City and County of San Francisco (2002) 29 Cal.4th 164, 168.)

While there must be "some footing in the realities of the subject addressed by the legislation" (Heller v. Doe, supra, 509 U.S. at p. 321, italics added), a court may intervene only when the "statutory classification" is one that ""rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of the State's objective."" (id. at p. 324, italics added). And, it is not irrational to impose disparate requirements of proof – even assuming potentially similar factual results – if it is conceivable that there is a difference in how readily the operative facts can be ascertained. (Ibid.)

In similar fashion, this Court in *People v. Wilkinson* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 821 rejected the defendant's argument that his equal protection rights were violated by a statutory scheme that punished the so-called "lesser" offense of battery on a custodial officer without injury more severely than the "greater" offense of battery on a custodial officer with injury. This Court found the defendant's premise – that battery without injury is always a less serious offense than battery with injury – to be questionable. (*Id.* at p. 839.) Indeed, in refutation of the defendant's premise, this Court provided an example of "a hypothetical defendant who, in the course of grabbing the arm of a correctional officer, inflicts a puncture wound with her fingernail that requires medical attention" compared to a "defendant who repeatedly hits and kicks the correctional officer, intending to cause serious injury but does not do so through no lack of effort." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.) Thus, the statutory scheme was neither irrational nor offensive to

equal protection principles because the Legislature could have believed that the "ostensible 'lesser' offense . . . sometimes may constitute a more serious offense and merit greater punishment than the 'greater' offense." (*Ibid.*, italics added.)

Wilkinson further observed that the Legislature does not violate equal protection principles by "determining which class of crimes deserves certain punishments and which crimes should be distinguished from others." (People v. Wilkinson, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 840.) As long as the Legislature acts rationally, its duty is to recognize degrees of culpability when drafting laws. (Ibid.)

It is conceivable and logical to believe that a principal harm resulting from placement of a *false* bomb or WMD is the fear that results once another person mistakenly *perceives* the item to be a bomb or WMD. And it is conceivable that there are differences between the likelihood that a false bomb will trigger such perception and the likelihood that a false WMD will trigger such perception.

It would not be irrational for the Legislature to assume that, given the long-standing public exposure to bombs in their many forms, the typical defendant attempting to make an item look like a bomb will have a considerable likelihood of success. Thus, it would not be irrational to assume that the typical innocent person encountering the item will be likely to perceive the item as a bomb. Conceivably, it is easy enough to seal a box with a ticking clock inside or fashion a device with tell-tale wires exposed (things commonly shown on television or in movies) to create an object likely to be perceived as a bomb. Hence, it is rational to assume that a defendant who sets out to create fear, by means of a placing a false bomb, will succeed in a great majority of cases in causing a disruptive reaction, e.g., evacuation, panic, isolation.

Indeed, the legislative history of section 148.1(d) supports this conclusion. The author of the bill, Assemblyman Alister McAlister, who introduced Assembly Bill 547 (section 148.1, former subdivision (b)) to criminalize placement of a false bomb, noted that receipt of a false bomb "can cause the same apprehension and the same expense and turmoil that results when a real bomb is planted." (Attachment A, p. 1 [Press Release from the Office of Assemblyman McAlister regarding AB 547 (Stats. 1972, ch. 1142, § 1, p. 2210), Feb. 24, 1972, taken from Assemblyman McAlister's file].) Furthermore, a memo to Assemblyman McAlister noted that more than a quarter of all bombings in the United States in 1971 were in California (Attachment A, p. 2 [Memorandum to Assemblyman McAlister regarding tabulation of bombing incidents in United States, Mar. 9, 1972, taken from Assemblyman McAlister's file regarding AB 547 (Stats. 1972, ch. 1142, § 1, p. 2210)]), indicating that Californians were especially likely to recognize a bomb upon sight, whether false or real. Almost 20 years later, when section 148.1(d) was amended to add malicious possession of a false bomb and to alter the specific intent requirement for the crime, both foes and advocates of the amendments recognized that false bombs, when placed with an intent to cause fear, cause just as much fear and panic as real bombs. (Attachment A, p. 3 [Assem. Com. On Pub. Saf., Comment on Sen. Bill 384 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 22, 1991, p. 1, par. 3]; p. 5 [Executive Director Michael W. Sweet, California District Attorneys Association, letter to Senator Russell supporting Sen. Bill 384 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.), Apr. 3, 1991]; p. 6 [Legislative Advocate Melissa K. Nappan, California Attorneys for Criminal Justice, letter to Sen. Russell opposing Sen. Bill 384, Apr. 5, 1991].) Again, this supports at least a basis to speculate that in California, victims of false bomb placement are likely to identify the false object as a bomb. Further, little or nothing is needed to anticipate that an ordinary

person's reaction would be to evacuate or isolate the object, once there has been such recognition.

In contrast, public exposure to WMDs is far less long-standing. And it is at least reasonably *conceivable* that for many persons – criminals and innocent members of the public – the appearance of WMDs is not so readily known. Items intended to falsely represent WMDs include many different objects (see § 11417) that an average person might readily dismiss, unaware that the (false) items were even intended to appear dangerous. For example, a false WMD could simply be an envelope containing trace amounts of talcum powder. An average person might readily dismiss that as not representing a dangerous item. A bottle or vial with liquid inside, labeled (or not) with the name of an obscure dangerous chemical agent, might be placed and thus encountered in many areas where (irrespective of the defendant's intent) the item simply may be dismissed, possibly as only cleaning material.

Thus, it is *conceivable* that a defendant who sets out to create fear, by means of a placing a false WMD, will be less likely to create any disruption at all." And because it is *conceivably* less certain that a false WMD will cause such disruption, a legitimate governmental objective would be to decline, at the present time, to extend felony treatment to placement of false WMDs in the absence of some assurance that such disruption actually resulted from this new form of crime. Because "the question is at least

⁴ "The Legislature is not bound, in order to adopt a constitutionally valid statute, to extend it to all cases which might possibly be reached, but is free to recognize degrees of harm and to confine its regulation to those classes of cases in which the need is deemed to be the most evident. [T]he Equal Protection Clause does not require that a State must choose between attacking every aspect of a problem or not attacking the problem at all." (*People v. Silva* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1160, 1170, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.)

debatable," the statute suffices under a rational basis review. (Heller v. Doe, supra, 509 U.S. at p. 326, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) "States are not required to convince the courts of the correctness of their legislative judgments." (Ibid., internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) Nor does the absence of empirical evidence to support their judgment dictate a certain result under the equal protection analysis. (People v. Hofsheier (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1185, 1203.)

It does not suffice, to prove the unconstitutionality of a legislative scheme, that a court might suspect it is unfair, imperfect, illogical, or at times inequitable. (*Heller v. Doe, supra*, 509 U.S. at pp. 319, 321.)

Therefore, it is not unconstitutional for the false bomb and false WMD statutes to (1) operate in light of that conceivable difference in the likelihood of resulting disruptive reaction by (2) requiring actual proof of a disruptive reaction (which the Legislature labeled "sustained fear") in one case, but not the other, to support felony punishment. In any event, there is considerable logic in the different requirements of proof.

As stated, a conceivable difference is that placement of a false WMD is somewhat (or at least sometimes) less likely than a false bomb to succeed in creating a disruptive reaction. The statutory scheme requires affirmative proof of success in the former case to obtain felony punishment and does not require affirmative proof of success in the latter to obtain felony punishment. It cannot be said that imposing the requirement of proof only in the more uncertain false WMD context is "wholly irrelevant" to a legitimate governmental objective of limiting the availability of felony punishment absent some reasonable assurance that harm has actually resulted from the newer form of crime.

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