IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,]	
Plaintiff and Respondent,]	
v.	l NO	. S182598
BARRY ALLEN TURNAGE,]	
Defendant and Appellant.	1	(CRC 8.25(0)
AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT THIRD APPELLATE DISTR CASE NO. C059887 HONORABLE THOMAS E. WA	ICT	SUPREME COURT
		JAN 1 8 2011
ANSWER BRIEF ON TH	E MERITS	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

LAW OFFICE OF PEGGY A. HEADLEY
11448 Deerfield Drive, Suite 2, PMB 180
Truckee, CA 96161
CA Bar No. 127301
(530) 550-7458
Appointed by the California Supreme Court
Attorney for Appellant
BARRY ALLEN TURNAGE

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

Respondent's argument that the YCCC was evacuated is also forfeited. (OBM, p. 19.) Respondent failed to challenge the Court of Appeal's factual statement below. In the rehearing petition, it was only asserted: "In addition, the dispatch center was evacuated." (Pet for Rehearing, p. 12.) Respondent did not claim the Court of Appeal's statement of facts was wrong or ask that the factual statement be altered in any way. ³² There was no assertion of any "omission" or "misstatement." ³³

[&]quot;Isolate," from which "isolation" is drawn, is defined as "to set apart from others." (Webster's 9th New Collegiate Dict. (1988) p. 641.) "Quarantine" has a definition of "a restraint upon the activities or communication of persons or the transport of goods designed to prevent the spread of disease or pests." (*Id.* at p. 964.) "Decontaminate," from which "decontamination" is drawn, is defined as "to rid of contamination (as with radioactive material)." (*Id.* at p. 331.) The Legislature did not have bombs in mind when they used these words; these definitions are consistent with that because they do not carry over to bombs.

In appellant's reply brief, appellant challenged the YCCC-evacuation assertion. (Reply Brief, p. 10-11; 1RT 58-60.) Confronted with these arguments, the opinion's factual statement demonstrates rejection of the YCCC-evacuation assertion.

(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (c)(2).) Thus, this Court must accept the Court of Appeal's factual statement. (*Ibid.*; *Hernandez v. Hillsides, Inc.* (2009) 47 Cal. 4th 272, 283, fn. 3 ["Indeed, the Court of Appeal reached a similar conclusion concerning the undisputed nature of Hitchcock's testimony about the 'recording and/or viewing' of plaintiffs. Plaintiffs did not seek rehearing or modification on this or any other factual point, and are barred from complaining about it now. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2) [Court of Appeal's statement of facts is accepted on review absent rehearing petition challenging alleged misstatements].)"].)

Besides the fact "sustained fear" was not proved, "sustained fear" was not alleged below, the jury was not instructed on "sustained fear," and the prosecutor's relevance objections to defense counsel's questions about the circumstances inside the YCCC after the small box was discovered, were upheld, thereby halting defense counsel's pursuit of this area. (1RT 56-57) And even with these fundamental flaws, respondent does not attempt to satisfy a burden of proving that omitting "sustained fear" below is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Chapman v. California* (1967) 386

³³ Rule 8.500 (c)(2) provides: "A party may petition for review without petitioning for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, but as a policy matter the Supreme Court normally will accept the Court of Appeal opinion's statement of the issues and facts unless the party has called the Court of Appeal's attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact in a petition for rehearing."

U.S. 18, 24.) Respondent instead skips from a violation of appellant's equal protection rights to a retrial on "sustained fear."

But if the equal protection violation exists, then the aggrieved defendant should have a remedy which does not ignore the fact that his conviction was obtained under an unconstitutional statute. "An unconstitutional law is void, and is as no law. An offence created by it is not a crime. A conviction under it is not merely erroneous, but is illegal and void, and cannot be a legal cause of imprisonment." (Ex Parte Siebold (1880) 100 U.S. 371, 376-378; see also Norton v. Shelby County (1886) 118 U.S. 425, 442; Reynoldsville Casket Co. v. Hyde (1995) 514 U.S. 749, 759-760 (dis. opn. of Scalia, J.) ["law repugnant to the Constitution 'is void, and is as no law"].) Although a court may judicially reform an unconstitutional statute to preserve it, the aggrieved defendant's remedy should be tied to that unconstitutionality and he should not be permitted to go remediless. (See e.g. Welsh v. United States, supra, 398 U.S. at p. 362 (conc. opn. of Harlan, J.)) [clear defendant's conviction must be reversed unless he is to be left "remediless"]; see also Skinner v. Oklahoma ex rel. Williamson, supra, 316 U.S. at p. 543 [finding equal protection violation but leaving any reformation to State]; Skinner v. State (Okla. 1945) 155 P.2d 715 [conviction reversed and dismissed because court could not rewrite statute]; See Ginsburg, Some Thoughts on Judicial Authority to Repair Unconstitutional Legislation (1979) 28 Clev. St. L.Rev. 301, 322

[government bears cost of adjustment when government responsible for uneven treatment].) Thus, the proposed remedy fails.

B. The remedy violates section 1023

Section 1023 would also impose a bar to retrial of a greater offense after a defendant is convicted of the lesser offense. (Pen. Code, § 1023; see also *People v. Anderson* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 92, 113-114.) Here, if the new element of "sustained fear" is created, then appellant's conviction is a lesser included offense of the new false bomb crime because it contains all the elements except for "sustained fear." ³⁴ (See *People v. Lopez* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 282, 288.)

This Court has consistently expressed concern about retrying a defendant for a greater offense after a lesser-included conviction. "Nearly 50 years before *Fields*, we interpreted section 1023 to mean that a conviction for a lesser included offense bars a later prosecution for the greater offense." (*People v. Anderson, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 113.) "We adhered to this interpretation in *Fields*, holding that section 1023 prohibits the retrial of a greater offense after a defendant's conviction of a lesser

Penal Code section 1023 provides: "When the defendant is convicted or acquitted or has been once placed in jeopardy upon an accusatory pleading, the conviction, acquittal, or jeopardy is a bar to another prosecution for the offense charged in such accusatory pleading, or for an attempt to commit the same, or for an offense necessarily included therein, of which he might have been convicted under that accusatory pleading."

included offense even where there has been no express or implied acquittal of the greater offense." (People v. Anderson, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 113, citing People v. Fields (1996) 13 Cal.4th 289, 307.) If this were not the rule, then section 1023 could be avoided "by the simple device of beginning with the prosecution of the lesser offense and proceeding up the scale." (People v. Fields, supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 307, quoting People v. Greer (1947) 30 Cal.2d 589, 597.) "Thus, a conviction of a lesser included offense bars subsequent prosecution of the greater offense." (People v. Bright (1995) 12 Cal.4th 652, 661, disapproved on other grounds in People v. Seel (2004) 34 Cal.4th 535, 542.)

This Court has also recognized that retrial of a greater offense after conviction of a lesser included offense could pose numerous practical difficulties. (See *People v. Fields, supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 307, fn. 5; see also *People v. Anderson, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 113.) Respondent's proposal limited to a "sustained fear" retrial is an implicit recognition of the difficulties. If appellant was retried for causing "sustained fear," many questions arise. These include whether the jury is instructed on a lesser-included misdemeanor offense of placing a false bomb without "sustained fear," whether the jury is told of the prior conviction, and why double

Anderson traced the genesis of the Fields rule from the "acquittal first" rule and resulting "irregular verdict" and "mistake in the law" when the jury is not advised of its duty to render a verdict on the greater offense first. (People v. Anderson, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 114.)

jeopardy would not prohibit retrial of the original offense, but then confront the jury with an impermissible "all or nothing" choice. (*People v. Fields*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 307, fn. 5.)

More complications arise because it is unclear if the jury would be instructed that the small box, without any external indications of a fuse, and despite questions about the meaningfulness of a C-4 writing, must just be assumed to be a false bomb. (See *People v. Anderson, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 124 (conc. opn. of Moreno, J.) [potential for erosion of presumption of innocence].) Also, this Court has previously expressed doubts about the fundamental fairness problems that might arise from "piecemeal jury litigation." (*People v. Najera* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 504, 511-512; see also *People v. Batts* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 660, 679; *People v. Anderson, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 121-122.) There are like doubts about the fundamental fairness of respondent's proposal.

Therefore, under these circumstances, including (1) appellant suffered an equal protection violation; (2) "sustained fear" was not alleged below; (3) the jury was never instructed on "sustained fear"; (4) the People's objections halted more inquiry into fear; (5) the fundamental fairness problems arising from "piecemeal jury litigation" and (6) the difficulties deciding how to implement this procedure, the consequences of the unconstitutional law must be "borne by the People" and retrial for "sustained fear" should be barred. (*People v. Anderson, supra*, 47 Cal.4th

at p. 114, citing *People v. Fields, supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 311; *People v. Nareja, supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 511-512.) Appellant should not bear the consequences of his equal protection violation. (See Ginsburg, *Some Thoughts on Judicial Authority to Repair Unconstitutional Legislation, supra*, 28 Clev. St. L.Rev. at p. 322 [government bears cost of adjustment when government responsible for uneven treatment].)

C. The remedy violates due process limits on judicial decisionmaking

Given these unique circumstances, a retrial on "sustained fear" would violate the "limitations on *ex post facto* judicial decisionmaking [which] are inherent in the notion of due process,..." (*Rogers v. Tennessee* (2001) 532 U.S. 451, 456; see also *Marks v. United States* (1977) 430 U.S. 188, 191; see also *Bouie v. Columbia* (1964) 378 U.S. 347 [applying to prior conduct a new and unexpected judicial construction of a penal statute violates due process]; see also *People v. Martinez* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 225, 238.)

In this case, if a remedy for the equal protection violation is required, then there must be a point in time when section 148.1(d) is unconstitutional. "An unconstitutional law is void, and is as no law. An offence created by it is not a crime. A conviction under it is not merely erroneous, but is illegal and void, and cannot be a legal cause of imprisonment." (*Ex Parte Siebold, supra*, 100 U.S. at p. 376-378; see also

Norton v. Shelby County, supra, 118 U.S. at p. 442; Reynoldsville Casket Co. v. Hyde, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 759-760 (dis. opn. of Scalia, J.) ["law repugnant to the Constitution 'is void, and is as no law"].) As explained, the remedy for this equal protection violation is declaring section 148.1(d) void ab initio or extending the benefit of the misdemeanor-only clause. But retrying appellant for "sustained fear" would "revive" felony section 148.1(d), eliminate the constitutionally-proper remedy of the aggrieved party for this equal protection violation and expose him to trial for a felony again. Thus, the bar against retroactive criminal prohibitions emanating from courts is violated.

Moreover, under section 3, it is generally presumed that criminal laws operate prospectively.³⁶ (*People v. Alford* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 749, 753; *People v. Teron* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 103, 116-117.) "Amendments to the Penal Code 'which change the legal consequences of criminal behavior to the detriment of defendants, cannot be applied to crimes committed before the measure's effective date."" (*People v. Adames* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 198, 214, quoting *Tapia v. Superior Court* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 282, 297.) If section 148.1(d) was either judicially invalidated or judicially retracted to punish placing a false bomb as a misdemeanor only, and the Legislature subsequently decided to add "sustained fear" to section 148.1(d), then

³⁶ Section 3 provides: "No part of it is retroactive, unless expressly so declared."

appellant could not be retried under the new false bomb statute because his conduct would have occurred before the new statute was enacted. (Pen. Code, § 3; see also *People v. Sandoval, supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 845 [substantive criminal law change is retroactive when applied to criminal conduct occurring before its enactment]; *People v. Delgado* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1167.) By parity of reasoning, "sustained fear" may not be added to 148.1(d) and retroactively applied to appellant via a "sustained fear" retrial.

D. The remedy violates equal protection again

A "sustained fear" retrial would violate appellant's equal protection rights again.³⁷ To retry appellant for "sustained fear" would mean appellant's remedy was dependent upon a mere fortuity of whether the unconstitutional statute under which he was convicted and aggrieved could be judicially reformed.

The federal and state equal protection guarantees are "essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike."

(Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, Inc., supra, 473 U.S. 432, 439;

Hofsheier, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 1199.) Here, appellant is similarly situated to defendants convicted under a statute found by a Court to violate equal protection and who are aggrieved by the unconstitutionality. The

Respondent does not address this argument.

only difference is the particular statute found to violate equal protection. (See *People v. Hofsheier, supra,* 37 Cal.4th at p. 1199.)

Under the rational relationship test, "most legislation is tested only to determine if the challenged classification bears a rational relationship to a legitimate state purpose." (*People v. Hofsheier, supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 1200.) Thus, by parity of reasoning, the question is whether there is a legitimate purpose for judicially reforming a statute to create a new element of "sustained fear" and then allowing retrial as to "sustained fear" for one defendant but leaving the task to the Legislature (due to the inability to satisfy *Kopp*'s judicial reformation prerequisites) so that there is no retrial as to another defendant who is also convicted under a statute determined to violate equal protection. (See *Shelley v. Kraemer* (1948) 334 U.S. 1, 17-18.)

There is no legitimate purpose or plausible basis for the remedy-distinction. It is the Legislature's function to create crimes and amend statutes, rather than the duty of the judiciary, as well established under the separation of powers doctrine. (Cal. Const., Art. IV, § 1; Pen. Code, § 6.)

Thus, if the Legislature subsequently added "sustained fear" to section 148.1(d), then appellant could not be retried under the new false bomb statute because his conduct would have occurred before the new statute was enacted. (Pen. Code, § 3.) Yet if the statute is judicially reformed, the proposal goes, the defendant may then be retried. Thus, the distinction

between defendants who are retried and defendants who are not retried, is not rationally-based.

People v. Liberta, supra, 64 N.Y.2d 152 rejected the defendant's equal protection challenge to the judicially-selected remedy of conviction affirmance. (*Id.* at p. 173.) But the *Liberta* criminal statute was underinclusive, the statutes were expanded, and the defendant was not aggrieved because he was always within the constitutional part of the statute. But section 148.1(d) is overinclusive, and appellant here is aggrieved.

By way of comparison, in *United States v. Stevens* (2010)

___U.S.___ [130 S.Ct. 1577], the United States Supreme Court determined a statute was unconstitutionally overbroad and could not be judicially rewritten. *Stevens* affirmed the lower court's remedy: vacating the defendant's conviction. (*Id.* at p. 1592; see also *Skinner v. Oklahoma*, *supra*, 316 U.S. at p. 543 [equal protection violation but any reformation left to State]; *Skinner v. State* (Okl. 1945) 155 P.2d 715 [conviction reversed and dismissed because Court could not rewrite statute].) By contrast, in *Skilling v. United States, supra*, ___U.S.___ 130 S.Ct. 2896, the Court judicially reformed the "honest services" statute. But it was not concluded that the defendant should just be retried under the "honest services" statute's reformed version. (*Id.* at p. 2934-2935.) *Skilling* remanded for harmless-error analysis by the lower court only because there

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